### **DISTRICT OF COL**

LUMBIA COU	IRT OF APPEALS
<b>2</b> 4 GT ((2)	OF APPE
24-CF-660	Clerk of the Court
	Received 03/18/2025 12:03 AM
	Resubmitted 03/18/2025 11:48 AM

**DIANDRE CAESAR,** 

Appellant

v.

### UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia – Criminal Division 2022 CF3 4933

### **BRIEF FOR APPELLANT**

Adrian E. Madsen, Esq. Bar No. 1032987 8705 Colesville Road, Suite 334 Silver Spring, MD 20910 Tel: (202) 738-2051

Fax: (202) 688-7260

madsen.adrian.eric@gmail.com

# **D.C.** App. R. 28(a)(2)(A) Statement

# **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Whether the evidence was insufficient to permit finding beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Caesar "acted in such a manner as would under the circumstances portend an immediate threat of danger to a person of reasonable sensibility," as required for intent-to-frighten assault where neither complainant saw a firearm at any time, where video footage admitted at trial demonstrates that the only witness who testified to having potentially seen a firearm could not have seen what the suspect fired at, and where the complainants heard one set of loud noises.
- 2. Whether the trial court [erred] by declining to order the United States to produce names of witnesses to a shooting committed by a person connected to an apartment in which a firearm believed to have been used in the shooting at issue in this case was found, preventing Mr. Caesar from marshaling evidence necessary to present a *Winfield* defense.
- 3. Whether the trial court erred by failing to suppress an out-of-court identification by the complainant that the United States ultimately conceded and the trial court found was unduly suggestive—a mug shot confirmation photo shown to a complete stranger who interacted with the suspect for less than three minutes—and by permitting the complainant to identify Mr. Caesar in court.
- 4. Whether Mr. Caesar's convictions for possession of a firearm during a crime of violence ("PFCV") merge where, based on shooting with a single firearm without

- interruption at a vehicle occupied by both complainants, "they arise out of [his] uninterrupted possession of a single weapon during a single act of violence."
- 5. Whether resentencing is required where the trial court erroneously believed that "the statutory scheme contemplates that" sentences for ADW "should be consecutive to the possession of a firearm during a crime of violence."<sup>2</sup>

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 24, 2022, after turning himself in when made of an arrest warrant, Mr. Caesar was presented on a two-count complaint based on allegations dating back to June 28, 2022. On March 27, 2024, the case proceeded to trial on a ten-count indictment charging Mr. Caesar with three counts of ADW against complainants Jeffrey Smith, Shelby Greene,<sup>3</sup> and minor child L.R.S., three counts of PFCV, one related to each count of ADW, second-degree cruelty to children against L.R.S., carrying a pistol without a license ("CPWL"), possession of an unregistered firearm ("UF"), and unlawful possession of ammunition ("UA"). On April 8, 2024, the jury returned a split verdict, acquitting Mr. Caesar of six counts—ADW and PFCV against L.R.S., cruelty to children, CPWL, UF, and UA—and finding him guilty of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Matthews v. United States, 892 A.2d 1100, 1106 (D.C. 2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 7/10/24 Tr. 33. "Tr." refers to transcript by date of proceeding. "R." refers to the record on appeal. "S.R." refers to the sealed, supplemental record on appeal. "DX" and "GX" refer to defense and government exhibits, respectively, admitted at trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> By the time of trial, Ms. Greene was known as Ms. Bell and was referred to by each name at different times during trial.

ADW (firearm) against Mr. Smith and Ms. Bell and two related counts of PFCV. R. 387-90 (PDF) (Verdict Form). On July 10, 2024, after a brief period of release to allow Mr. Caesar to attend his grandmother's funeral,<sup>4</sup> the trial court sentenced Mr. Caesar to an aggregate eight years' incarceration, sixty months on both counts of PFCV, to run concurrently with one another, and eighteen months for each count of ADW, to run consecutively with one another and the PFCV counts. 7/10/24 Tr.; R. 429 (PDF). This timely appeal followed. R. 430-34 (PDF).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On August 24, 2022, after turning himself in when made of an arrest warrant,<sup>5</sup> Mr. Caesar was presented on a two-count complaint charging him with one count of ADW (gun)<sup>6</sup> and one count of PFCV<sup>7</sup> on June 28, 2022. R. 43 (PDF). After release from pretrial detention,<sup>8</sup> a grand jury returned a ten-count indictment charging Mr. Caesar with three counts of ADW, three counts of PFCV, second-degree cruelty to children, CPWL, UF, and UA. R. 131-33 (PDF). In short, the United States alleged that Mr. Caesar shot at a car occupied by Jeffrey Smith, Shelby Bell (nee Greene), and L.R.S. on June 28, 2022, in or near the 2200 block of New York Avenue NE.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> R. 6/25/24 Tr.; 6/27/24 Tr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 8/30/22 Tr. 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> D.C. Code § 22-402.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> D.C. Code § 22-4504(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> 10/18/22 Tr. 12.

Prior to a scheduled October 2023 trial date, Mr. Caesar moved to suppress an out-of-court identification by complainant Jeffrey Smith, a single "confirmation" photo—a mug shot of Mr. Caesar<sup>9</sup>—shown to Mr. Smith, a stranger of a different race than Mr. Caesar who had seen Mr. Caesar, at most, for about two minutes, primarily through a fence, <sup>10</sup> and to preclude any in-court identification by Mr. Smith as tainted by the unduly suggestive procedure R. 169-76 (PDF). <sup>11</sup> Mr. Caesar also moved for a pretrial voir dire regarding any proposed in-court identification of Mr. Caesar by bus driver Anthony Graham, who had not participated in any out-of-court identification procedure. R. 163-67 (PDF).

At an October 20, 2023 hearing, the government confirmed that it would not attempt to elicit any in-court identification from Mr. Graham, <sup>12</sup> and assented to the trial court's directive that it therefore instruct Mr. Graham not to offer any identification unless asked to do so. 10/20/23 Tr. 10-11. The trial court granted Mr. Caesar's motion to continue trial to allow consultation with an identification expert

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> With Mr. Caesar having just one prior conviction, there for (misdemeanor) distribution of marijuana in 2016, S.R. 4 (PDF) (PSA Report p. 3), this appears to have a been a photograph 2016.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> GX 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The United States opposed the motion, ultimately conceding that the procedure was unduly suggestive but arguing that it was nonetheless reliable. R. 207-18 (PDF); 3/27/24 Tr. 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The United States did not call at trial a bus passenger previously anticipated to be a witness.

and deferred ruling on Mr. Caesar's motion to suppress the out-of-court identification and preclude any in-court identification by Mr. Smith. 10/27/23 Tr. 3.

### Motion to Compel Denied

No gun was recovered from Mr. Caesar or the location of the alleged offenses. Discovery provided by the United States indicated that a gun thought to be the same gun that fired bullets recovered from the complainant's car in this case was found in the apartment in the 2100 block of I Street NE during the March 2023 execution of a search warrant related to a February 2023 incident in which a person was shot in the face. R. 280 (PDF) (Mtn Compel p. 2); see also R. 178-84 (PDF). 2100 I Street NE is less than 1.5 miles from the location of the events at issue in this case. 13 The man who resided in the apartment in which the search warrant was executed was Zion Ray-Valentine, whose appearance differs from the suspect in the February 2023 shooting. R. 280 (PDF) (Mtn to Compel p. 2). After seeking without success the same informally from the government, Mr. Caesar moved to compel body-worn camera from execution search of the search warrant in which the gun linked by NIBIN<sup>14</sup> to the charged shooting was recovered, names of the complainant and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> "Judicial notice may be taken at any time, including on appeal." *Christopher v. Aguigui*, 841 A.2d 310, 311 n.2 (D.C. 2003) (quoting *United States v. Burch*, 169 F.3d 666, 671 (10th Cir. 1999)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> NIBIN is the National Integrated Ballistic Information Network, which "automates ballistics evaluations and provides actionable investigative leads in a timely manner" and "is the only interstate automated ballistic imaging network in

witnesses to the February 2023 shooting, and information regarding whether the suspect in the February 2023 incident had been an informant. R. 279-88 (PDF) (Mtn to Compel). The purpose of the requested information—all known and available to the government—was to investigate a potential *Winfield* defense, <sup>15</sup> given the similarity between the type of drug transaction preceding the alleged offenses in this case and those surrounding the February 2023 shooting which led to the issuance and execution of a search warrant in which a gun linked by NIBIN to the offenses in this case was recovered, the close proximity between the two offenses, and the lack of any evidence that an After hearing argument on the motion, <sup>16</sup> the trial court denied the motion, finding that "this is far too attenuated and sort of a speculative request here," seeming to apply something akin to the ultimate showing required in order to present a *Winfield* defense <sup>18</sup>:

Well, having looked at, and I've read through some of the cases that are cited on both sides, it has to be more than some speculative potential third party that could be the subject of a *Winfield* [d]efense. There has to be some nexus between that third party that have, I think the

operation in the United States." See https://www.atf.gov/firearms/national-integrated-ballistic-information-network-nibin (last accessed Mar. 17, 2025).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See Winfield v. United States, 676 A.2d 1 (D.C. 1996) (en banc).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> 3/18/24 Tr.; 3/19/24 Tr. 1-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> 3/19/24 Tr. 13 (16-17).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> *Id.* at 5 ("It follows from this, as the division recognized, that the trial judge ordinarily may exclude evidence of third-party motivation unattended by proof that the party had the practical opportunity to commit the crime, including at least inferential knowledge of the victim's whereabouts.").

language is a motive and a practical opportunity, to actually even commit the offense.

3/19/14 Tr. 10.

Leaving aside the lack of any obligation to alert the government to any intent to present a *Winfield* defense, <sup>19</sup> as Mr. Caesar made clear, he was not seeking a ruling regarding whether he could present a third-party perpetrator defense but rather information in the government's possession in order to investigate whether to seek to present such a defense. 3/19/24 Tr. 6-7 ("[T]hat's why it deserves more investigation is because we don't know. And we may be able to say with more investigation why. There's no evidence that this gun was anywhere else in the interim. I think that's really significant... [T]his is not a retrospective analysis. It's a prospective analysis where we're trying to get information before we go to trial.").

# Motion to Suppress Identification Denied

On March 27, 2024, the court heard testimony regarding Mr. Caesar's motion to suppress an out-of-court identification by complainant Jeffrey Smith, with the government calling one witness, MPD Detective Yvette Maupin.

On direct examination, Detective Maupin, who at the time of the offense had worked for MPD for approximately twenty-five years, <sup>20</sup> responded to a call on June 28, 2022, a sunny day, regarding the alleged offenses in this case. 3/27/24 Tr. 7-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See generally Moghalu v. United States, 263 A.3d 462 (D.C. 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> 3/27 Tr. 7.

While at the McDonald's near the Salvation Army building on New York Avenue, Detective Maupin spoke with Mr. Smith, who described a suspect as "black male[,] dreads[,] wearing all black." 3/27/24 Tr. 10. While at the scene, Detective Maupin "acquired a possible name for the suspect," which led an offsite detective to send Detective Maupin an undated photograph, <sup>21</sup> of Mr. Caesar taken from Cobalt, a "law enforcement database." 3/27/24 Tr. 10-12. Officers, including Detective Maupin, "obtained video evidence from th[e] incident," which Detective Maupin described as "dash cam from the complainant himself of the incident with Mr. Caesar," which the complainant "reviewed" "several times before [Detective Maupin] got there" and a "couple of times" after Detective Maupin arrived at the scene. 3/27/24 Tr. 12-13. While reviewing the footage, the complainant was "rather hyper, pointing." 3/27/24 Tr. 13.22 Mr. Smith described to Detective Maupin "an interaction he had with a potential suspect," which "was shown in" GX2. 3/27/24 Tr. 16. Mr. Smith saw the suspect "in front of [a] vehicle" depicted in GX2 and said the suspect "came to the back and started kicking his vehicle." 3/27/24 Tr. 17. The government published without objection as government exhibit 3 surveillance footage from a Salvation Army building next to the McDonald's where the complainant began interacting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The photograph was admitted without objection for purposes of the motion hearing as government exhibit 1. 3/27/24 Tr. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> The "dash cam" footage was admitted without objection as government exhibit 2 for purposes of the motion hearing. 3/27/24 Tr. 14-15.

with the suspect, which the trial court had already reviewed. 3/27/24 Tr. 18-20.

Detective Maupin showed to Mr. Smith the photograph of Mr. Caesar sent be offsite detectives, first telling Mr. Smith that "this may be the person or may no be the person that's in the video," and to "be advised that the hair may be different because of the picture may be lighter or darker," at least part of which was captured on body-worn camera footage admitted as government exhibit 4. 3/27/24 Tr. 20-21. When Detective Antoinette Martin, also present, after Detective Maupin's prefatory statements, "turned the phone with the photograph that we got from Colombo of a Diandre Caesar" toward Mr. Smith, Mr. Smith said, "that's him," "looks like him," and "[l]ooks just like him." 3/27/24 Tr. 22-24.

On cross-examination, Detective Maupin agreed that the entirety of the interaction between the suspect and Mr. Smith was less than three minutes, with a portion of that interaction through a fence. 3/27/24 Tr. 23. Detective Maupin testified that she "d[id]n't know" that the suspect and Mr. Smith were facing away from one another during the three-minute interaction, persisting in this answer even when shown video footage appearing to depict that. 3/27/24 Tr. 25-28. Detective Maupin agreed that, after Mr. Smith and the suspect interacted at a fence separating a McDonald's from the parking lot adjacent to a Salvation Army building, there was a period of approximately one minute when the suspect and Mr. Smith did not see

one another. 3/27/24 Tr. 28. Mr. Smith told Detective Maupin that when he was driving onto New York Avenue, his focus was on driving. 3/27/24 Tr. 29.

After agreeing that Mr. Smith described the suspect as black male with dreads, Detective Maupin testified that she believed Mr. Smith described the suspect as "six foot," but agreed that government exhibit 4, body-worn camera footage from an officer at the scene, did not depict Mr. Smith providing any description of height. 3/27/24 Tr. 30-31. Detective Maupin knew that unless a witness knows a suspect in a context other than in the commission of an alleged offense, use of a confirmation photo is inappropriate, and knew that Mr. Smith did not know the suspect outside of the commission of the alleged offense but nonetheless used a confirmation photograph. 3/27/24 Tr. 31-32.

On redirect examination, Detective Maupin testified that she "d[id] a confirmation photo viewing in this case" because "there were witnesses on the scene that told officers the name of [Mr.] Caesar," because "the complainant watched the video several, several times and had the interaction with" the suspect, and "exigent circumstances... [t]rying to get the BOLO out." 3/27/24 Tr. 32-33. Detective Maupin ultimately admitted—on redirect examination—that she "should have done a nine[-]photo array." 3/27/24 Tr. 34.

The government appeared to concede that the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive—"we don't contest that there was suggestivity in this

procedure[,] [o]bviously it was a confirmation photo"<sup>23</sup>—but argued that the identification was nonetheless reliable. 3/27/24 Tr. 35-38. After noting that the government's concession of impermissible suggestivity shifted the burden to the government of proving that the identification was nonetheless reliable, focusing particularly on the duration of the interaction—less than two minutes, with portions through a fence and portions during which the two were not facing one another—that a person does not gain personal knowledge by watching a video, and the paucity of the description. 3/27/24 Tr. 38-42.

The trial court found that "Mr. Smith was observing the defendant for around two minutes, directly[,] [a]nd was engaged in a heated argument with him under conditions where it seems he had ample opportunity to observed the defendant," and that it was "clear that [Mr. Smith's] attention was directly on Mr. Caesar." 3/27/24 Tr. 44. The trial characterized Mr. Smith's "description of Mr. Caesar [ ]as general, but... accurate[,] black male with dreads wearing all black[,] at least six feet," and described his identification as "pretty emphatic." 3/27/24 Tr. 45. When denying the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> 3/27/24 Tr. 35 (9-11). The trial court concluded the same and found that identification was impermissibly suggestive. 3/27/24 Tr. 38 ("And I think even the detective concedes that as well. She's not taking a position formally, but I think in terms of her testimony, I think it is clearly suggestive.")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> 3/27/24 Tr. 45. While generally crediting Detective Maupin, 3/27/24 Tr. 42, the trial court did not address the apparent conflict between Detective Maupin's testimony that Mr. Smith described the suspect's height and the absence of such statements in body-worn camera footage.

motion, the trial court also appeared to rely on its own comparison of Mr. Caesar in court to dash camera footage (GX 2):

I could observe the video that was Government's Exhibit 2, which is the dash cam on Mr. Smith's car, and it seemed evident to the Court, just seeing that video where Mr. Caesar walks in front of the car, that it is apparent that it's Mr. Caesar. So that supports also, the I think the reliability of the complainant's description.

3/27/24 Tr. 45.

When Mr. Caesar raised that such observations are not relevant to the *Biggers*<sup>25</sup> analysis, the trial court seemingly contradicted itself, stating "I'm not relying on that in terms of finding that" the identification "is reliable." 3/27/24 Tr. 46.

After the United States announced that it did not intend to elicit an in-court identification of Mr. Caesar from Mr. Smith, a decision the government made in part because "in terms of prepping Mr. Smith" it did not "think [Mr. Smith] would be able to ID" Mr. Caesar, Mr. Caesar moved that the trial court order the government to instruct the witness not to offer any in-court identification, <sup>26</sup> which the trial court later denied. 4/1/24 Tr. 66.

# <u>Trial</u>

#### **Detective Antoinette Martin**

Following jury selection and opening statements, the government first called

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> 3/27/24 Tr. 46-51.

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