BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 24-CF-660

Clerk of the Court Received 06/16/2025 01:21 PM Filed 06/16/2025 01:21 PM

DIANDRE CAESAR,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

JEANNINE FERRIS PIRRO United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB TRAVIS WOLF MICHAEL TOOGUN

- * DAVID P. SAYBOLT, VA Bar #44518 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 David.Saybolt@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2022-CF3-4933

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err by permitting the government to elicit Smith's single-photograph identification of Caesar. Smith was face to face with Caesar for two minutes as the men argued on a clear sunny day, at a time when Smith's attention was wholly focused on the altercation with Caesar. In addition, Caesar repeatedly stood in front of Smith's car as Smith tried to leave the McDonald's. Indeed, the dashcamera of Smith's vehicle captured a clear view of Caesar's face. Smith identified Caesar one hour after the shooting after viewing a single confirmatory photograph. Despite the suggestivity of the procedure, Caesar cannot show that the court clearly erred by finding the identification reliable. For these same reasons, Smith's pre-trial identification could not taint his in-court identification. Finally, any error in admission of the testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because there was overwhelming evidence, including video evidence and testimony by Caesar's co-workers who knew him well, that he was the person involved in the altercation with Smith.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Caesar's motion to compel production of police body-worn camera and information about a suspect in a February 2023 shooting when any connection to that shooting was speculative and attenuated. Although Caesar's charged shooting was connected by a preliminary ballistics comparison to a gun recovered in a March 2023 search warrant, the gun recovered in the

March 2023 search warrant was not connected to the February 2023 shooting. Indeed, Caesar ultimately acknowledged that the February 2023 shooter was no longer a potential third-party perpetrator.

The evidence was more than sufficient to prove that Caesar assaulted both Smith and Greene with a dangerous weapon. Caesar's identity as the assailant was abundantly established. Although the gun Caesar used was not recovered at the time, the victims perceived that they were being shot at, the victims found bullet holes and bullets in back of their car, an eyewitness described a shooting complete with muzzle flashes, and police located spent cartridge casings on the scene.

Finally, the trial court did not make an error of law or otherwise abuse its discretion at sentencing when it imposed consecutive sentences for Caesar's convictions for ADW and PFCV. The trial court's statement that the statutory scheme "contemplates" consecutive sentences for PFCV and the underlying offense was not incorrect as a matter of law, and the court properly exercised its discretion to impose consecutive terms. However, the government agrees that Caesar's two convictions for PFCV should merge.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Did Not Err by Denying Caesar's Motion to Suppress Smith's Single-Photograph Identification of Caesar, Nor Did It Err by Permitting Smith's Subsequent Identification of Caesar in Court.

Caesar claims (at 42-46) that the police display of a single photograph to Smith was unduly suggestive, that Smith's identification of Caesar was not otherwise reliable, and that this display tainted Smith's unsolicited in-court identification of Caesar at trial. His claim lacks merit.

A. Additional Background

On October 4, 2023, Caesar moved to suppress the out-of-court identification made by Smith and any subsequent in-court testimony by Smith identifying Caesar (R.169 (Motion to Suppress Identification)). On October 12, 2023, the government opposed (R.207). After an evidentiary hearing on March 27, 2024, the trial court orally denied Caesar's motion

to suppress the out-of-court identification, and deferred ruling on the motion to suppress the in-court identification (3-27-24 Tr. 42-50).

1. Motion Hearing

MPD Detective Yvette Maupin testified that on June 28, 2022, she responded to the shooting scene and interviewed Smith, who described the shooter as a black male with dreads, six-feet tall, and wearing all black clothing (3-27-24 Tr. 8-10, 31). The weather was "beautiful" and sunny (id. at 9). From Salvation Army employees on the scene, Detective Maupin obtained a probable name for the suspect who worked with them, and had a detective email her a photograph of Caesar from a law-enforcement database (id. at 10-11, 32-33; Government Motion Exhibit (GMX.) 1 [GX.3]). Police obtained a copy of video from Smith's dash camera (GMX.2 [GX.7]), which Smith reviewed several times before police arrived and with police while they were there (3-27-24 Tr. 13, 15).

⁶ The parties initially argued the motion to suppress identification before Judge Lynn Leibovitz on October 20, 2023 (10-20-23 Tr. 18-32; 10-27-23 Tr. 3-4). Judge Leibovitz stated, "I've seen the videos. I would have a hard time saying [Smith] didn't have a perfectly good opportunity to observe under the circumstances." (10-20-23 Tr. 18-19.)

⁷ When the exhibits are the same, we cite to the trial exhibit number in brackets.

Smith was "pretty hyper," pointing out the suspect in the dash-cam footage (id.).

Prior to showing the photograph to Smith, Detective Maupin told him that the person in the photograph may or may not be the person in the video (3-27-24 Tr. 20, 23). Detective Martin then showed Smith the photograph of Caesar on her phone, and he stated, "That's him. Looks like him. Looks just like him." (*Id.* at 23-24.)

The court received BWC showing the identification procedure (GMX.4), as well as video surveillance from the side of the Salvation Army warehouse (GMX.3 [GX.4]) showing the confrontation between the two men at the fence (3-27-24 Tr. 19, 21). Detective Maupin stated that she should have used a photographic array but did not because that would delay the procedure and because of the identification of Caesar by co-workers on the scene and Smith's repeated review of the dash-cam footage (*id.* at 34). Detective Maupin conceded that showing a single photograph was not a best practice, and the government conceded suggestivity (*id.* at 42-43; *see also id.* at 5).8

⁸ During argument on the motion, the prosecutor proffered to the court without objection that based on Caesar's appearance in the courtroom, (continued . . .)

2. Trial Court's Ruling on Smith's Pre-Trial Identification

The court found that, after Smith described the shooter to police on the scene, police obtained a suspect name from co-workers on the scene, obtained a photograph of Caesar, and showed it to Smith, who then positively identified Caesar as the person with whom he had the altercation (3-27-24 Tr. 42-43).

Upon seeing the photograph, Smith said "that looks just like him" (3-27-24 Tr. 44). The court found that Smith observed the suspect for two minutes "directly" and had "ample opportunity" to observe him during their heated argument (id.). Smith had additional opportunities to observe the suspect as the suspect approached the car from the front and the side at a time when Smith's attention was "directly" on the suspect because of the "very heated" argument (id. at 44-45). Smith's prior description was "general" but "accurate": a black male with dreads wearing all black, at least six feet (id. at 45). Smith identified Caesar

he was "over six feet tall or at least six feet tall" (3-27-24 Tr. 36-27). The prosecutor also proffered, based on the time stamp on the BWC (GMX.4 at 14:04:10 [2:04 p.m. on June 28, 2022]) that Smith's identification occurred approximately one hour after the shooting (3-27-24 Tr. 37).

"immediately after" the incident (id.). Smith was "pretty emphatic" about his identification and recognized Caesar "right away" (id.).

The court then stated that it observed the dash-cam video "and it seemed evident to the Court, just seeing that video where Mr. Caesar walks in front of the car, that it is apparent that it is Mr. Caesar" (3-27-24 Tr. 45). The court added, "So that supports also . . . the reliability of the complainant's description" (id.). Caesar objected that the court's own comparison of Caesar to the person in the video was not relevant (id. at 46). The court responded, "I'm not relying on that in terms of finding that it is reliable. I'm relying on the [Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 197 (1972)] factors. I thought I made that clear but maybe I didn't." (Id.) The court added, "If it wasn't, I'm relying on the findings I just made under Biggers" (id.).

3. Trial Court's Deferral of Possible In-Court Identification by Smith

The prosecutor stated that although it was "possible" Smith could "spontaneously" identify Caesar in court, the government was not planning on eliciting an in-court identification (3-27-24 Tr. 46). Caesar asked the court to direct the government not to elicit an in-court

identification (*id.* at 47). After further argument, the court declined to rule on Caesar's motion before trial but invited Caesar to submit legal authority in support (*id.* at 50).

4. Trial

On direct examination of Smith, the prosecutor reviewed GX.7, the dash-cam video with Smith; the prosecutor drew Smith's attention to a racial slur being used during the conversation and asked, "[W]ho made that statement?" (4-1-24 Tr. 41-42). Smith answered, "That was the defendant," and nodded his head toward Caesar (id. at 42). Over objection, the court granted the prosecutor's motion to have the record reflect an in-court identification of Caesar (id.).

B. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

Suggestivity and reliability are mixed questions of law and fact; this Court reviews "mixed questions of law and fact under [its] usual deferential standard of review for factual findings . . . and [applies] de novo review to the ultimate legal conclusions based on those facts." (James) Young v. United States, 305 A.3d 402, 435 (D.C. 2023) (quoting Hilton v. United States, 250 A.3d 1061, 1068 (D.C. 2021)) (internal

citation omitted). "This [C]ourt is bound by the trial court's findings on whether identification procedures were impermissibly suggestive and whether an identification was reliable if they are supported by the evidence and in accordance with the law." *Kaliku v. United States*, 994 A.2d 765, 781 (D.C. 2010) (citation omitted).

To suppress an out-of-court identification, a defendant must prove that the procedure was "so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." Long v. United States, 156 A.3d 698, 707 (D.C. 2017) (quoting Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 197 (1972) (internal quotations omitted)). "Even if the procedure is found to be impermissibly suggestive, the government can defeat the motion to suppress by showing the identification was reliable nonetheless." Hilton, 250 A.3d at 1068.

Reliability is the "linchpin" of admissibility. *Manson v. Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. 98, 114 (1977)). In determining the reliability of the identification, the Court assesses (1) the witness's opportunity to observe the perpetrator at the time of the crime, (2) the degree of attention the witness paid to the perpetrator, (3) the accuracy of any prior descriptions of the perpetrator given by the witness, (4) the witness's level of certainty

at the time of identification, and (5) the lapse in time between the crime and the identification procedure. *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 199-200.

C. Analysis

Contrary to Caesar's claim (at 42-46) the trial court did not err by denying Caesar's motion to suppress Smith's pre-trial identification. Although the single-photo display was inherently suggestive, *Morales v. United States*, 248 A.3d 161, 173 (D.C. 2021) ("single-photo displays are inherently suggestive") (internal citation omitted), the identification was nonetheless reliable under the circumstances. *Hilton*, 250 A.3d at 1068.

As the trial court found without clear error, one hour after the incident, Smith positively and emphatically identified Caesar as the man who argued with him through the fence and then shot at his car as he drove away (3-27-24 Tr. 44-45). On a clear, sunny day, the two men argued face to face for two minutes, at a time when Smith was paying close attention to the suspect because they were engaged in a heated argument (*id.*). In addition, as the court also found, and the video

⁹ Although Caesar contends (at 44) that there were "periods of time when the two did not face each other," he cannot show clear error in the court's finding that the Smith observed the suspect for two minutes given the video footage reviewed by the court (see GMX.2 [GX.7]; GMX.3 [GX.4]).

evidence established, Smith had additional opportunities to observe the suspect's face with a high degree of attention when the suspect appeared suddenly in front of his car as Smith attempted to leave the McDonald's parking lot, then attacked the passenger side of the car, and stood in front of the car again when Smith backed up to turn right onto New York Avenue (id.; GMX.2 [GX.7]; GMX.3 [GX.4]). Thus, the most important reliability factors, opportunity to observe, and the lapse in time between the incident and the identification, strongly support the reliability of Smith's identification. See Morales, 248 A.3d at 177 n.15 (first and fifth Biggers factors "typically drive the reliability analysis"). In addition, Smith's prior description was general but accurate, and he was emphatic in his identification.

Under the totality of these circumstances, the court's assessment of the reliability of the identification was not clearly erroneous or contrary to law. See (James) Young, 305 A.3d at 437 (identification of suspect from display of single photograph sufficiently reliable where suspect and witness were in close proximity prior to assault, identification took place approximately one hour after assault, witness was able to describe accurately defendant's height and build, and witness identified

defendant without hesitation); Lyons v. United States, 833 A.2d 481, 486 (D.C. 2003) (show-up identification not unduly suggestive where witness viewed defendant in handcuffs and under high beams of police car; potential for suggestivity outweighed by promptness of show-up one hour and fifteen minutes after robbery and identification reliable where witness looked at defendant several times during robbery). 10

Caesar contends (at 44) that the trial court used its own identification of Caesar in the dash-cam footage to bolster the reliability of Smith's identification, and then sought to "walk this statement back." See Long, 156 A.3d at 708 ("the reliability inquiry may not include the consideration of evidence of the defendant's guilt external to the

_

¹⁰ Caesar does not claim on appeal that Smith improperly bolstered the reliability of his identification by repeatedly reviewing the dash-cam footage. Nor would such a claim prevail. Smith was a percipient witness to the events recorded on the video and was not improperly gaining personal knowledge through that viewing. See, e.g., Sanders v. United States, 809 A.2d 584, 596 (D.C. 2022) (lay witness opinion testimony identifying defendant in surveillance footage admissible where (1) the testimony is rationally based on the perception of a witness who has sufficient familiarity with the defendant's appearance because of "substantial contact with the defendant," (2) the testimony is "helpful to the factfinder in the determination of a fact in issue," and (3) the court is "reasonably satisfied that . . . the lay witness is more likely to accurately identify the defendant than is the factfinder").

identification"). But as the trial court explained (see 3-27-24 Tr. 45-46), the court grounded its ruling in the *Biggers* reliability factors, not its own comparison from the video. Moreover, the court was permitted to rely on the video evidence as probative of Smith's opportunity to observe the suspect and his degree of attention in doing so; here, the dash-cam footage showed Smith's point of view as Caesar popped out repeatedly in front of the car, and the Salvation Army video showed the two men face to face through the chain-link fence. Because the trial court is presumed to know the law, Saidi v. United States, 110 A.3d 606, 613 (D.C. 2015), there is no evidence to support Caesar's suggestion that the court employed the videos in a forbidden manner. See Long, 156 A.3d at 707-08 (trial court's findings on reliability deficient where judge failed to address Biggers factors but "relied solely on forbidden inferences" arising from defendant's possession of proceeds of the robbery and presence inside the car involved in the robberies).

Caesar's challenge (at 45-46) to admission of Smith's in-court identification fails for the same reasons. Caesar appears to suggest that the prior out-of-court identification tainted Smith's in-court testimony. However, because the prior identification was reliable and admissible,

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